







South Africa

Meat Safety Act, 2000 Act 40 of 2000

Legislation as at 1 November 2000

FRBR URI: /akn/za/act/2000/40/eng@2000-11-01

There may have been updates since this file was created.

PDF created on 1 March 2024 at 10:39.

Check for updates



About this collection

The legislation in this collection has been reproduced as it was originally printed in the Government Gazette, with improved formatting and with minor typographical errors corrected. All amendments have been applied directly to the text and annotated. A scan of the original gazette of each piece of legislation (including amendments) is available for reference.

This is a free download from LawLibrary and is presented in collaboration with the African Legal Information Institute, the Judicial Institute for Africa and the Laws. Africa Legislation Commons, a collection of African legislation that is digitised by Laws. Africa and made available for free.

www.lawlibrary.org.za | info@lawlibrary.org.za

www.laws.africa | info@laws.africa

There is no copyright on the legislative content of this document.

This PDF copy is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License (CC BY 4.0). Share widely and freely.

Meat Safety Act, 2000

Contents

1. Definitions	1
2. National executive officer	2
3. Delegation and assignment of powers and duties by national executive officer	3
4. Designation of assignees	4
5. Assignment of certain functions to provincial executives	4
6. Suspension of assignment	5
7. Prohibition of slaughter of animals at places other than abattoirs, and exemptions	6
8. Approval of slaughter facility	6
9. Withdrawal or lapsing of registration certificate	6
10. Instructions with regard to operation of abattoir	7
11. Essential national standards	7
12. Meat safety schemes	9
13. Restriction on importation of meat	10
14. Restriction on exportation of meat	11
15. Routine inspections	12
16. Entry and search of premises	12
17. Confidentiality	14
18. Appeals	14
19. Offences and penalties	15
20. Forfeiture	15
21. Presumptions and evidence	16
22. Regulations	16
23. Delegation	16
24. Defects in form	17
25. Repeal of laws, and savings	17
26. Short title	17
Schedule 2 (Section (25)	18

Meat Safety Act, 2000 South Africa

South Africa

Meat Safety Act, 2000 Act 40 of 2000

Published in Government Gazette 21707 on 1 November 2000

Assented to on 27 October 2000

Commenced on 1 November 2000

[This is the version of this document from 1 November 2000.]

(English text signed by the President.)

ACT

To provide for measures to promote meat safety and the safety of animal products; to establish and maintain essential national standards in respect of abattoirs; to regulate the importation and exportation of meat; to establish meat safety schemes; and to provide for matters connected therewith.

BE IT ENACTED by the Parliament of the Republic of South Africa, as follows:—

1. Definitions

- (1) In this Act, unless the context indicates otherwise—
 - "abattoir" means a slaughter facility in respect of which a registration certificate has been issued in terms of section 8(1) and in respect of which a grading has been determined in terms of section 8(2);
 - "animal" means any animal referred to in Schedule 1;
 - "animal product" means any by-product obtained from the carcass of an animal other than the meat thereof;
 - "assignee" means any person, undertaking, body, institution or association designated under section $\underline{4}$;
 - "authorised person" means a person contemplated in section 3(1)(a)(ii);
 - "Department" means the Department of Agriculture in the national government;
 - "essential national standards" means the standards contemplated in section 11;
 - "export abattoir" means an abattoir contemplated in section 14(1)(a);
 - "import permit" means a permit contemplated in section <u>13(1)(a)</u>;
 - "meat" means those parts of a slaughtered animal which are ordinarily intended for human and animal consumption and which have not undergone any processing other than deboning, cutting up, mincing, cooling or freezing, and includes meat which—
 - (a) has been treated with a substance that does not substantially alter the original characteristics thereof; and
 - (b) assumes its original characteristics after a substance referred to in paragraph (a) has physically been removed therefrom;
 - "MEC" means the member of the Executive Council of the province in question responsible for abattoirs;

- "Minister" means the national Minister responsible for agriculture;
- "national executive officer" means the officer designated as such in terms of section $\underline{2(1)}$;
- "**officer**" means an officer as defined in section 1(1) of the Public Service Act, 1994 (<u>Proclamation No. 103 of 1994</u>);
- "owner", in relation to a slaughter facility, includes the person in control of the slaughter facility;
- "premises" includes any building, structure, enclosure, land, road, harbour, jetty, quay or mooring;
- "prescribed" means prescribed by regulation;
- "provincial executive officer" means the officer of the province in question designated as such in terms of section 5(2)(a);
- "regulation" means any regulation made under section 22;
- "sale" includes an agreement to sell, and any offer, advertisement, exposure, transfer of ownership, conveyance or delivery for sale, exchange or disposal in any manner, whether for any consideration or otherwise, and "sell" has a corresponding meaning;
- "scheme" means any scheme established under section 12;
- "slaughter" means the killing of an animal and the performance of the usual accompanying acts in connection therewith in order to obtain meat and animal products therefrom;
- "slaughter facility" means any facility, Whether stationary or mobile, at or on which animals are slaughtered or intended to be slaughtered, and includes areas in or adjacent to such facilities where
- (a) carcasses are chilled;
- (b) meat or animal products are handled;
- "this Act" includes any regulation, essential national standard and scheme;
- "unsafe for human and animal consumption" means unsafe for human and animal consumption by reason of a disease, an abnormal condition, putrefaction, decomposition, contamination or residues, or by reason of exposure to or contact with a disease or putrefied, decomposed or contaminated material;
- "veterinarian" means a veterinarian as defined in section 1 of the Veterinary and Para-Veterinary Professions Act, 1982 (Act No. 19 of 1982).
- (2) The Minister may by notice in the *Gazette*
 - (a) add any type or category of animal to Schedule 1;
 - (b) determine that specific sections of this Act do not apply to certain types or categories of animals mentioned in Schedule 1.

2. National executive officer

- (1) (a) The Minister must designate an officer of the Department who is a veterinarian as national executive officer.
 - (b) The national executive officer exercises the powers conferred on him or her and performs the duties imposed on him or her by or under this Act, subject to the control and directions of the Minister.

- (2) Whenever the national executive officer considers an application or a request in terms of this Act, he or she may—
 - (a) request the applicant to provide such additional information as may be necessary within a specified period;
 - (b) conduct any necessary investigation or inquiry in connection with the application or request;and
 - (c) refuse, postpone or grant the application or request subject to such conditions as may be necessary.
- (3) (a) The national executive officer may on application grant an extension of the period contemplated in subsection (2)(a) in writing.
 - (b) An application for extension must be in writing and must set out the reasons for the application.
- (4) The national executive officer must notify the applicant in writing of any decision reached and, if an application or a request is refused, of the reasons for refusal.
- (5) (a) If, after an application or a request has been approved or granted, the national executive officer becomes aware of circumstances which, had they been known to him or her or had they prevailed when he or she considered the application or request, would have resulted in the refusal of the application or request or in the imposition of conditions or additional conditions, he or she may, by written notice to the applicant revoke such approval or grant or amend it by imposing conditions or additional conditions, as the case may be.
 - (b) The national executive officer must give reasons for any such revocation or amendment.

3. Delegation and assignment of powers and duties by national executive officer

- (1) (a) The national executive officer may delegate any power conferred on him or her or assign any duty imposed on him or her by or under this Act—
 - (i) to any officer under his or her control;
 - (ii) to a person who is not an officer; and
 - (iii) with the approval of the MEC, to a provincial executive officer.
 - (b) A delegation or assignment under paragraph (a)(ii) may only be made with the approval of the Minister.
 - (c) A power or duty delegated or assigned to a provincial executive officer may be further delegated or assigned by such provincial executive officer to any officer under his or her control or to an authorised person.
- (2) (a) The national executive officer must furnish the officers, authorised persons and provincial executive officers contemplated in subsection (1) with a written authority in which it is stated that the person mentioned therein is authorised to exercise the powers and perform the duties specified therein.
 - (b) The authorisation contemplated in paragraph (a) may—
 - (i) be written in general terms;
 - (ii) refer to cases of a particular nature;
 - (iii) refer to a specified abattoir; or
 - (iv) refer to a specified area.

- (3) When exercising a power or performing a duty delegated or assigned under this section the officer, authorised person or provincial executive officer must produce the authorisation contemplated in subsection (2)(a) at the request of any person.
- (4) The national executive officer is not divested of any power or duty delegated or assigned and may amend or withdraw any decision made or instruction given by an officer, authorised person or provincial executive officer by virtue of such delegation or assignment, unless the decision has been conveyed to the person in respect of whom the decision applies, in which case the decision may be amended or withdrawn only if the amendment or withdrawal is to the benefit of that person or if that person consents to the amendment or withdrawal.

4. Designation of assignees

- (1) The Minister may assign the application of this Act or certain provisions thereof throughout the Republic or in a particular area, to any person with an interest in or particular knowledge of meat and meat safety.
- (2) An assignment contemplated in subsection (1) must set out the powers and duties of the assignee who must exercise the powers and perform the duties subject to the directives of the national executive officer.
- (3) Unless the Minister in a particular case directs otherwise, an assignee has no recourse against the State in respect of any expenses incurred in connection with the exercise of the powers or the performance of the duties in question.
- (4) The chief executive officer, chairperson or any other person in charge of any assignee which is not a natural person—
 - (a) must act on behalf of that assignee in the exercise of the powers and the performance of the duties in question; and
 - (b) may in writing delegate or transfer to an employee of that assignee any power which the assignee may exercise or any duty which the assignee must perform in terms of this Act, or may in writing authorise or direct any such employee to exercise such power or perform such duty.
- (5) (a) A power exercised or duty performed by an employee contemplated in subsection (4) must be regarded as having been exercised or performed by the chief executive officer, chairperson or other person in charge, as the case may be.
 - (b) The chief executive officer, chairperson or other person in charge may at any time amend or withdraw a decision made or an order given by such an employee unless the decision has been conveyed to the person in respect of whom the decision applies, in which case the decision may be amended or withdrawn only if the amendment or withdrawal is to the benefit of that person or if that person consents to the amendment or withdrawal.
- (6) Subject to subsection (3), an assignee may in consultation with the national executive officer determine a fee payable by the owner of an abattoir for the exercise of powers and the performance of duties by the assignee in terms of this Act.
- (7) If an assignee does not comply with a provision of this Act, or with a direction by the national executive officer, the national executive officer may terminate or suspend the assignment.

5. Assignment of certain functions to provincial executives

- (1) Subject to subsections (2), (3) and (4) and section 6, the functions set out in sections 7, 8, 9, 10, 15 and $\underline{16}$ are hereby assigned to the provincial executive of each province.
- (2) (a) Every MEC must designate an officer of the province in question who is a veterinarian as provincial executive officer.

- (b) A provincial executive officer must exercise the powers and perform the duties assigned to the provincial executive of his or her province by subsection (1).
- (3) A provincial executive officer—
 - (a) may delegate any power or assign any duty contemplated in subsection (2)(b) to an officer under his or her control; and
 - (b) must provide the national executive officer with such reports regarding the application of the provisions referred to in subsection (1) as the national executive officer may require.
- (4) (a) The national executive officer must monitor the performance of the functions assigned by this section in every province in order to verify that essential national standards are being applied throughout the Republic.
 - (b) At prescribed intervals the national executive officer must compile reports of the functions monitored as contemplated in paragraph (a) and furnish a copy thereof to the relevant provincial executive officer.
- (5) The national executive officer may by notice in writing require the provincial executive officer or any other person in possession of information required by the national executive officer for purposes of monitoring the performance of the functions assigned by this section, to provide such information to the national executive officer within the period specified in the notice.
- (6) If, in a particular case, the national executive officer is of the opinion that an act or omission by a particular provincial executive officer represents a material deviation from the essential national standards, he or she must inform the provincial executive officer concerned of the deviation and request the provincial executive officer to take such steps in connection therewith as may be necessary.

6. Suspension of assignment

- (1) The Minister may suspend an assignment contemplated in section $\underline{5}$ by notice in the *Gazette*, in general or in a particular instance, in the event of—
 - (a) a contravention of or failure to comply with any provision of this Act, or the occurrence, in a province or in a country adjacent to a province, of any event of such a nature and extent that it could detrimentally affect meat safety in a province or in the Republic as a whole; or
 - (b) a written request to do so by an MEC.
- (2) The suspension may be—
 - (a) in respect of one or more specified provinces or specified portions thereof or the Republic as a whole;
 - (b) in general or with regard to a particular matter; and
 - (c) for such period or subject to such conditions as the Minister may determine.
- (3) In the event of a suspension, the national executive officer must implement the necessary essential national standards and such other provisions of this Act in the area in question for such period as may be necessary to give effect to this section.
- (4) For purposes of subsection (3), the provincial executive officer of the province in question must cooperate with the national executive officer and put any facilities used in the province in respect of meat safety at the disposal of the national executive officer.
- (5) If the expenditure incurred during a particular year by or on behalf of a particular province for the purposes contemplated in this section exceeds the appropriation for that purpose by the provincial legislature in question, the deficit must be defrayed from money appropriated by Parliament for that purpose.

Meat Safety Act, 2000 South Africa

(6) When the reason for the suspension ceases to exist, the Minister must lift the suspension.

7. Prohibition of slaughter of animals at places other than abattoirs, and exemptions

- (1) No person may—
 - (a) slaughter any animal at any place other than an abattoir;
 - (b) permit the slaughter of any animal at any place under his or her control, unless the place is an abattoir; or
 - (c) sell or provide meat for human and animal consumption unless it has been slaughtered at an abattoir.
- (2) (a) Subsection (1) does not apply to slaughter for own consumption or for cultural or religious purposes.
 - (b) No meat or animal product obtained from an animal slaughtered as contemplated in paragraph (a) may be sold to any person.

8. Approval of slaughter facility

- (1) (a) An application for registration of a slaughter facility must be submitted to the national executive officer in the prescribed manner and be accompanied by the prescribed fee.
 - (b) If the slaughter facility contemplated in paragraph (a) complies with this Act, the national executive officer must, subject to such conditions as may be necessary, issue a certificate of registration as an abattoir to the applicant.
 - (c) A registration certificate is valid for such period as may be determined and specified in the certificate by the national executive officer, which period may not exceed five years.
 - (d) A condition imposed under paragraph (b) may relate to—
 - (i) essential national standards;
 - (ii) other prescribed matters; or
 - (iii) any other matter necessary to ensure that the abattoir produces meat and animal products that are safe for human and animal consumption.
- (2) When issuing a registration certificate in respect of an abattoir the national executive officer must determine a grading in accordance with the essential national standards and indicate such grading on the certificate in question.
- (3) A certificate of approval issued or deemed to have been issued in respect of an abattoir in terms of section 5 of the Abattoir Hygiene Act, 1992 (Act No. 121 of 1992), and which was in force immediately prior to the commencement of this section, is deemed to be a registration certificate issued in terms of subsection (1).

9. Withdrawal or lapsing of registration certificate

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the national executive officer may withdraw a registration certificate in respect of an abattoir if the abattoir in question—
 - (a) no longer complies with any condition subject to which the registration certificate was issued:
 - $(b) \qquad \text{is not operated in accordance with the essential national standards; or} \\$
 - (c) is no longer utilised as such.

- (2) The national executive officer may not withdraw a registration certificate unless he or she has—
 - (a) informed the owner of the abattoir in question of the intended withdrawal and of the grounds upon which it is based; and
 - (b) afforded the owner a reasonable opportunity to state his or her case or to rectify any shortcoming with regard to such abattoir within the period specified by the national executive officer.
- (3) A registration certificate issued in respect of an abattoir lapses when the person to whom such certificate was issued ceases to be the owner of that abattoir.

10. Instructions with regard to operation of abattoir

- (1) The national executive officer may instruct the owner of an abattoir to—
 - (a) comply with an essential national standard;
 - (b) comply with any condition subject to which the registration certificate was issued;
 - (c) perform or cease to perform an act specified in the instruction, if such performance or cessation is necessary for the achievement or promotion of the objectives of this Act; and
 - (d) suspend operations at the abattoir until the provisions of this Act or conditions in terms of which the registration certificate was issued, have been complied with.
- (2) An instruction contemplated in subsection (1)—
 - (a) may provide that any requirement imposed must be complied with in the manner and within the period specified in the instruction;
 - (b) must be in writing and served on the owner of the abattoir in the prescribed manner; and
 - (c) is binding on the owner of the abattoir, regardless of whether or not such owner was the owner at the time when the instruction was served.
- (3) (a) An instruction may be amended or withdrawn if the national executive officer, after such inspections and investigations as may be necessary, is satisfied that the provisions of that instruction have been properly or partly complied with.
 - (b) An amendment or a withdrawal contemplated in paragraph (a) does not exempt the owner of an abattoir from compliance with any provision of this Act which applies to him or her or the abattoir of which he or she is the owner.
 - (c) An amendment or withdrawal contemplated in paragraph (a) must be made known in the manner set out in subsection (2)(b).
- (4) A directive issued in terms of section 17 of the Abattoir Hygiene Act, 1992 (<u>Act No. 121 of 1992</u>), and which was in force immediately prior to the commencement of this section, is deemed to be an instruction in terms of this section.

11. Essential national standards

- (1) The following essential national standards apply to all abattoirs:
 - (a) A slaughter facility may only be registered as an abattoir if it complies with the prescribed requirements relating to throughput, structural requirements, hygiene management practices and related matters;
 - (b) the owner of an abattoir must procure a meat inspection service for that abattoir;

- (c) meat inspection services may only be performed by the national executive officer, a provincial executive officer, an authorised person or an assignee, who must perform that function independently from the abattoir;
- (d) a person contemplated in paragraph (c) must be a veterinarian, meat inspector, meat examiner, animal health technician or such other duly qualified person as may be prescribed;
- (e) an abattoir must be managed in accordance with a prescribed hygiene management and evaluation system;
- (f) any person entering an abattoir must adhere to the prescribed hygiene requirements;
- (g) water used in an abattoir must conform to the prescribed standard;
- (h) an animal presented for slaughter at an abattoir must be handled humanely during loading, transportation, off-loading, housing, immobilising and killing as prescribed in accordance with the requirements of the Animals Protection Act, 1962 (Act No. 71 of 1962);
- (i) no dead animal or animal suffering from a condition that may render the meat unsafe for human and animal consumption may be presented at an abattoir for slaughter;
- (j) an animal presented for slaughter must be examined by a person contemplated in paragraph (e) before slaughter, and must be accompanied by information as to its ownership;
- (k) an animal presented for slaughter in accordance with an animal health scheme in terms of the Animal Diseases Act, 1984 (Act No. 35 of 1984), may only be accepted for slaughter if the animal is identified in accordance with the requirements of the scheme in question;
- (l) any person suspecting that an animal is infected with a controlled animal disease as prescribed by or under the Animal Diseases Act, 1984 (Act No. 35 of 1984), must convey that suspicion without delay to a veterinarian in the employ of the Department or a province;
- (m) meat and animal products must be inspected, marked and dealt with in accordance with the prescribed methods by a person contemplated in paragraph (c);
- (n) meat may only be removed from an abattoir if it is duly marked and the method of removal thereof poses no risk to the safety of the meat for human and animal consumption;
- (o) the owner of an abattoir must keep the prescribed records relating to the number of animals slaughtered, the origin of animals slaughtered, details of examinations carried out while the animals were alive and inspections carried out after the animals had been slaughtered and the destination of the meat and animal products, and must at the request of a person contemplated in paragraph (c) furnish such information to that person;
- (p) the owner of an abattoir with prescribed laboratory facilities must ensure access to the laboratory by the national executive officer, a provincial executive officer, an authorised person and an assignee;
- (q) the use, application and presence of specified substances and residues in meat and animal products must be detected and monitored in accordance with the prescribed methods;
- (r) the treatment, removal or disposal of condemned material, effluent, refuse and emissions must be carried out in accordance with the prescribed procedures; and
- (s) animals may not be slaughtered for research purposes unless a research protocol has been submitted and approved by the national executive officer.
- (2) The national executive officer may perform any function which is reasonably necessary for and incidental to the effective application of the essential national standards.

- (3) The Minister may, subject to such conditions as may be specified by him or her after consultation with the MEC of an affected province, grant exemption from any essential national standard in respect of a particular—
 - (a) area;
 - (b) grade of abattoir;
 - (c) owner or category or group of owners;
 - (d) person or category or group of persons; and
 - (e) kind of animal.

12. Meat safety schemes

- (1) The Minister may by notice in the *Gazette* establish a scheme for the improvement of meat safety and safety of animal products.
- (2) (a) The Minister may under subsection (1) establish different schemes in respect of different kinds of animals and different categories of persons.
 - (b) The Minister may make any scheme applicable to the whole of the Republic or to different areas of the Republic, or to a particular province or specified part thereof.
- (3) A scheme may be established for—
 - (a) the enhancement of meat safety practices;
 - (b) the conducting of surveys;
 - (c) training in aspects of meat safety and safety of animal products;
 - (d) investigations into food-borne diseases;
 - (e) the promotion of hygiene practices;
 - (f) the determination of the origin of meat and animal products;
 - (g) the monitoring of residues on meat and animal products;
 - (h) the availability of and access to meat hygiene services;
 - (i) hygiene assessment services; or
 - (j) any other matter which is necessary or expedient to achieve and promote the objectives of this Act.
- (4) A notice contemplated in subsection (1) must—
 - (a) set out the objectives of the scheme;
 - (b) set out the kinds of animals and classes of persons to, and the areas in, which the scheme applies;
 - (c) determine the tests to which animals and the meat and animal products obtained therefrom must be subjected in order to determine the extent of compliance with the objectives of the scheme;
 - (d) describe the manner of interpreting the tests contemplated in paragraph (c);
 - (e) describe the manner in which the animals must be treated, kept and cared for and the manner in which meat and animal products may be disposed of;
 - (f) determine the requirements for participation in a scheme;

- (g) describe the manner in which a person intending to participate in a scheme must apply for admission, the particulars to be furnished in an application and the circumstances under which an application may be refused;
- (h) determine the manner in which a person may participate in a scheme;
- (i) determine the kinds of animals, the types of meat and the types of animal products to which a scheme applies;
- (j) determine the circumstances under which the participation lapses or may be cancelled;
- (k) specify the particulars to be recorded by persons enrolled in a scheme;
- (l) determine the facilities to be provided by a person participating in a scheme for the purpose of the performance of the required tests, or for any other act necessary to promote the objectives of a scheme;
- (m) specify the marks with which animals, meat and animal products to which a scheme applies must be marked;
- (n) determine the manner in which animals, carcasses, meat and animal products that comply with the requirements of a scheme must be certified, restrictions on the use of such a certificate and the circumstances under which such a certificate lapses;
- determine the circumstances under which a scheme applies to a specific category of persons, in a specific area or to a specific abattoir, and specify the requirements which must be complied with;
- (p) determine which of the provisions of a scheme bind a person who is enrolled for participation therein;
- (q) specify the tariffs for services rendered in terms of a scheme;
- (r) determine other functions to be performed by the respective persons or officers in terms of a scheme; and
- (s) provide for any other matter which may be necessary or expedient to promote the objectives of the scheme.
- (5) The Minister may, after consultation with the MEC of a province, by notice in the *Gazette* declare that participation in a particular scheme is compulsory in the province in question, or in a specified part thereof.
- (6) A scheme in terms of which any form of monetary assistance may be rendered to participants by the national government may only be established with the approval of the Minister of Finance.

13. Restriction on importation of meat

- (1) (a) No person may import any meat into the Republic except on the authority of a permit issued by the national executive officer.
 - (b) Paragraph (a) does not apply to meat imported for a prescribed purpose or to meet a prescribed weight.
- (2) An application for an import permit must be made in the prescribed manner and be accompanied by the prescribed fee.
- (3) An import permit may be issued subject to such conditions as the national executive officer may determine and set out in the permit in question.
- (4) The national executive officer may, in the public interest, suspend or withdraw any permit, or impose new or additional conditions in a permit, issued in terms of subsection (1)(a).

- (5) An import permit—
 - (a) may only be issued in respect of meat imported from a place approved by the national executive officer by notice in the *Gazette*;
 - (b) must be obtained by an importer before a consignment of meat lands in the Republic; and
 - (c) is valid for one consignment only, unless it expressly provides otherwise.
- (6) Meat in respect of which an import permit has been issued—
 - (a) may only be introduced into the Republic through the place of entry specified in the permit;
 - (b) must be introduced within the period specified in the permit;
 - (c) may only be off-loaded at the place of entry if all the conditions specified in the permit have been complied with;
 - (d) must be stored in the prescribed manner at a facility approved by the national executive officer until the prescribed veterinary procedures or other acts specified in the permit have been performed; and
 - (e) must be available for inspection, sampling and testing by the national executive officer.
- (7) If the national executive officer has knowledge of meat being brought into the Republic contrary to the provisions of this Act or an import permit, he or she may direct that the meat or any portion thereof may not be off-loaded without his or her written consent or that it may only be off-loaded subject to such conditions as may be necessary.
- (8) No person may remove any meat stored in a facility contemplated in subsection (6)(d) from that facility unless the national executive officer has authorised the removal thereof.
- (9) An importation certificate issued in terms of section 14(1)(a) of the Abattoir Hygiene Act, 1992 (Act No. 121 of 1992), and which was in force immediately prior to the commencement of this section is deemed to be an import permit issued in terms of subsection (1)(a).

14. Restriction on exportation of meat

- (1) Subject to subsection (6), no person may export any meat from the Republic unless—
 - (a) the animal from which the meat was obtained, was slaughtered at an abattoir approved by the national executive officer as an export abattoir;
 - (b) the meat has been inspected, sampled and tested;
 - (c) the prescribed fee has been paid;
 - (d) the essential national standards in respect of the slaughtering of animals and the handling of meat, and such additional requirements as may be determined by the national executive officer have been complied with;
 - (e) the national executive officer has issued such certificate as may be required by the relevant authority in the importing country; and
 - (f) the reefer in which the meat is to be exported has at the time of loading thereof been sealed by the national executive officer in the prescribed manner, and the number of the seal has been recorded on the certificate contemplated in paragraph (e).
- (2) Sections $\underline{8}$ and $\underline{9}$ apply with the necessary changes to any application for approval contemplated in subsection $\underline{(1)(a)}$.
- (3) The national executive officer may inspect the cutting, deboning, reconstruction, operation or processing plants of an export abattoir.

(4) An application for a certificate contemplated in subsection (1)(e) must be lodged with the national executive officer before the meat in question is conveyed from the Republic or, if the relevant authority in the importing country requires examination of the live animals from which the meat was obtained, before the animals are slaughtered.

- (5) If the relevant authority contemplated in subsection (1)(e) requires a certificate of compliance with its requirements, the application for a certificate contemplated in that subsection must be accompanied by a document which authorises the importation of meat into that country.
- (6) Subsection (1)(a), (b), (c), (e) and (f) does not apply to exportation of meat to a country which has no restrictions on the importation of meat.
- (7) The national executive officer may prohibit the exportation of any meat if—
 - (a) the meat in question is on reasonable grounds suspected to be unsafe for human consumption;
 - (b) the exportation thereof may be detrimental to animals in the country to which it is intended to be exported; or
 - (c) it is not possible to certify that the requirements contemplated in subsection (5) have been complied with.

15. Routine inspections

- (1) The national executive officer may during working hours enter any abattoir in order to—
 - (a) inspect any activity or process carried out at the abattoir;
 - (b) require the owner to produce any record, book or other document relating to the abattoir for inspection or for the purpose of obtaining copies thereof or extracts therefrom; and
 - (c) examine, sample and test any animal, meat or animal product.
- (2) The national executive officer or his or her delegate or assignee, as the case may be, must show proof of his or her identity and authority when requested to do so by the owner of the abattoir in question.

16. Entry and search of premises

- (1) The national executive officer may, on the authority of a warrant issued in terms of subsection (2)
 - in order to obtain evidence, enter any premises where he or she has reason to believe that any scheme, prohibition, control or instruction contemplated in this Act has been or is being contravened;
 - (b) direct the owner or a person employed at the premises—
 - (i) to deliver any book, record or other document that pertains to the investigation and which is in the possession or under the control of the owner or that person;
 - (ii) to furnish such information as he or she has with regard to the matter under investigation; and
 - (iii) to render such assistance as the national executive officer requires in order to enable him or her to perform his or her functions under this Act;
 - (c) inspect any book, record or other document and make copies thereof or excerpts therefrom;
 - (d) examine any animal, meat, animal product, substance or material found on the premises;

- take samples of any animal, meat or animal product or any substance or material used or intended for use in the treatment of meat, and test, examine, analyse, grade or classify such samples;
- (f) seize any animal, meat, meat product, substance, material, book, record or other document which might be relevant to a prosecution under this Act and keep it in his or her custody; and
- (g) remove anything seized from the premises where it has been seized, or leave it at the premises and, if he or she deems it necessary, attach an identification mark or seal thereto, or to the container thereof, but the person from whose possession or control any book, record or document has been taken, may, at his or her own expense and under supervision of the national executive officer, make copies thereof or excerpts therefrom.
- (2) A warrant referred to in subsection (1) must be issued by a judge of the High Court or by a magistrate who has jurisdiction in the area where the premises in question are situated, and may only be issued if it appears from information on oath or on affirmation that there are reasonable grounds for believing that an article or thing referred to in subsection (1) is upon or in such premises, and must specify which of the acts mentioned in that subsection may be performed thereunder by the person to whom it is issued.
- (3) The national executive officer executing a warrant in terms of this section must immediately before commencing the execution identify himself or herself to the person in control of the premises, if such person is present, and hand to such person a copy of the warrant or, if such person is not present, affix such copy to a prominent place on the premises.
- (4) (a) The national executive officer may not enter upon or search any premises until he or she has audibly demanded admission to the premises and has notified the purpose of his or her entry, unless he or she is, on reasonable grounds, of the opinion that any article or thing might be destroyed if admission is first demanded and such purpose is first notified.
 - (b) If the national executive officer, on the authority of a warrant issued in terms of subsection (2), enters upon or searches any premises he or she may use such force as may reasonably be necessary to overcome resistance to such entry or search.
 - (c) Any entry and search in terms of this section may only be executed by day, unless the execution thereof by night is justifiable and necessary.
- (5) A warrant contemplated in this section may be issued on any day and is in force until—
 - (a) it is executed;
 - (b) it is cancelled by the person who issued it or, if such person is not available, by any person with similar authority;
 - (c) one month from the date of its issue has expired; or
 - (d) the purpose for which the warrant was issued, no longer exists, whichever occurs first.
- (6) The national executive officer may without a warrant enter upon any premises, other than a private dwelling, and search for, seize and remove any article or thing referred to in subsection (1) if—
 - (a) the person who is competent to do so consents to such entry, search, seizure and removal; or
 - (b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that a warrant would be issued in terms of subsection (2) and the delay in obtaining such warrant would defeat the object of the warrant.
- (7) If, during the execution of a warrant or during a search in terms of this section, a person claims that an article or document found upon or in the premises in question contains privileged information and refuses the inspection of such article or document, the national executive officer may request the Registrar of the High Court which has jurisdiction or that Registrar's delegate, to attach and remove that article or document for safe custody until a court of competent jurisdiction has made a ruling on the question whether or not the information in question is privileged.

- (8) (a) Subject to subsection (9), the national executive officer must deliver anything seized in terms of subsections (1) and (6) without delay to a police official contemplated in section 30 of the Criminal Procedure Act, 1977 (Act No. 51 of 1977), who must deal with and dispose of the seized item as provided for in Chapter 2 of that Act.
 - (b) When a police official acts in terms of section 30(a) or (b) of the Criminal Procedure Act, 1977 (Act No. 51 of 1977), in respect of an item contemplated in paragraph (a), he or she must do so after consultation with the national executive officer.
- (9) (a) The national executive officer retains control over and possession of any meat which on reasonable grounds is suspected of not being approved for human and animal consumption, and any animal product which is or which is on reasonable grounds suspected of not being so approved.
 - (b) The national executive officer may dispose of any meat or animal product referred to in paragraph (a).
 - (c) Before any meat or animal product is disposed of in terms of paragraph (b), the national executive officer must place it at the disposal of a police official for such investigation as the police official may deem necessary.

17. Confidentiality

No person may disclose any information which relates to any person and which was acquired by him or her in the performance of his or her functions in terms of this Act, except—

- (a) in so far as it may be necessary for the application of this Act;
- (b) for the purposes of any legal proceedings under this Act;
- (c) when required to do so by a competent court;
- (d) if the Minister, in the public interest, authorises the disclosure thereof; or
- (e) to the extent necessary in order to comply with a law dealing with access to information.

18. Appeals

- (1) Any person who feels aggrieved by a decision of the national executive officer, an assignee, a provincial executive officer or an authorised person may appeal against that decision to the Minister or the MEC of the province in question, as the case may be.
- (2) An appeal referred to in subsection (1) must be lodged in the prescribed manner within the prescribed period, and the prescribed fee must be paid.
- (3) (a) The Minister or MEC, as the case may be, may designate one or more independent senior officers to investigate and report on the grounds of appeal.
 - (b) The national executive officer, assignee, provincial executive officer or authorised person who made the decision and the appellant may appear or be requested to appear at an investigation referred to in paragraph (a), in order to be heard or to be questioned, and are entitled to legal representation.
- (4) (a) The Minister or MEC, as the case may be, may after considering the report and other documents relating to the appeal, confirm, set aside or amend the decision or issue such order in connection therewith as may be fit.
 - (b) If the Minister or MEC, as the case may be, sets aside a decision which is the subject of an appeal or amends it in favour of an appellant, the fee referred to in subsection (2) must be refunded to the appellant concerned.

19. Offences and penalties

- (1) A person commits an offence if he or she-
 - (a) contravenes or fails to comply with section $\frac{7}{13}$, $\frac{13}{13}$, $\frac{13}{13$
 - (b) contravenes or fails to comply with a condition imposed in terms of section 8(1)(b), 13(3) or 13(7);
 - (c) refuses or fails to comply with an instruction issued under section 10(1);
 - (d) contravenes or fails to comply with any applicable essential national standard;
 - (e) obstructs or hinders the national executive officer, a provincial executive officer, an officer contemplated in section 3(1)(a)(i) or an authorised person in the exercise of any power or the performance of any duty under this Act, or refuses or fails to comply with a direction referred to in section 16(1)(b);
 - (f) while being a participant in a scheme, contravenes or fails to comply with any provision of that scheme;
 - (g) damages, destroys or otherwise tampers with any sample taken in terms of section $\underline{16(1)(e)}$;
 - (h) refuses or fails to furnish information requested in terms of section <u>16(1)(b)(ii)</u> or furnishes information which is false or misleading, knowing that it is false or misleading;
 - (i) alters or forges any permit, certificate, consent or authority contemplated in this Act;
 - (j) in order to evade any provision of this Act, uses a document which has been altered or forged;
 - (k) sells, removes or tampers with any animal, meat, animal product, material, substance, book, record or other document seized in terms of section <u>16</u>, or tampers with an identification mark or seal attached thereto or to a container thereof in terms of that section;
 - (l) falsely holds himself or herself out to be the national executive officer, a provincial executive officer, an authorised person or an assignee; or
 - (m) makes a document or causes a document to be made which purports to be but is in fact not a permit, certificate, consent, authority or other document issued in terms of this Act.
- (2) Any person who is convicted of an offence in terms of this Act is—
 - (a) in the case of a first conviction, liable to a fine or to imprisonment for a period not exceeding two years or to both a fine and such imprisonment; and
 - (b) in the case of a second or subsequent conviction, whether it be for the same offence or for some other offence referred to in subsection (1), liable to a fine or to imprisonment for a period not exceeding four years or to both a fine and such imprisonment.
- (3) Despite anything to the contrary contained in any other law, a magistrate's court is competent to impose any penalty provided for in this Act.

20. Forfeiture

A court convicting any person of an offence under this Act may, when requested thereto by the public prosecutor, in addition to any other punishment imposed in respect of that offence, order that the meat, animal, animal product, article, book or other document which formed the subject of the charge against that person, be forfeited to the State.

21. Presumptions and evidence

In any prosecution under this Act-

- (a) any meat, animal product, substance or material from which a sample has been taken pursuant to the provisions of this Act must, unless evidence to the contrary is adduced, be regarded as having the same properties as that sample; and
- (b) any document purporting to have been certified by the national executive officer, an assignee, a provincial executive officer or an authorised person to the effect that it is a true copy of the document to which the proceedings relate, is permissible as evidence in any court.

22. Regulations

- (1) The Minister may make regulations regarding—
 - (a) any matter which in terms of this Act is required or permitted to be prescribed;
 - (b) the requirements with which slaughter facilities have to comply for registration in terms of this Act;
 - (c) the slaughter of animals for own consumption and for religious and cultural purposes;
 - (d) the fees payable if an animal, meat or an animal product is examined by an officer in terms of this Act;
 - the keeping of records and the furnishing of returns in connection with any matter relating to abattoirs, animals brought to such abattoirs and the meat and animal products derived from such animals;
 - (f) the taking of samples for the purposes of this Act, and the testing, examination and analysis of such samples;
 - (g) the manner in which and periods within which specified applications have to be submitted, the documents which are to accompany such applications, and the fees which are payable in respect of such applications;
 - (h) matters pertaining to the importation and exportation of meat; and
 - (i) generally with regard to any other matter which it is necessary or expedient to prescribe in order to achieve or promote the objectives of this Act.
- (2) The Minister may by regulation grant exemption from the operation of a provision of this Act in respect of a particular area in the Republic, a particular class of slaughter facility or abattoir or grade of abattoir, a particular category or group of persons or a particular category or group of owners or a particular kind or class of animal.
- (3) A regulation may for any contravention thereof or failure to comply therewith, provide for a fine or imprisonment—
 - (a) in the case of a first conviction, for a period not exceeding one year; and
 - (b) in the case of a second or subsequent conviction, for a period not exceeding two years.

23. Delegation

(1) The Minister may, subject to such conditions as he or she may impose, delegate or assign to the national executive officer, any officer of the Department or authorised person any power or duty conferred or imposed upon the Minister by or under this Act except the power to make regulations under section 22.

Meat Safety Act, 2000 South Africa

(2) The MEC may, subject to such conditions as he or she may impose, delegate or assign to any officer in the relevant provincial department any power or duty conferred or imposed upon the MEC by or under this Act.

The Minister or MEC is not divested of any power or exempted from any duty delegated or assigned (3)as contemplated in subsection (1) or (2), and may amend or set aside any decision taken in the exercise of a power or performance of a duty so delegated or assigned.

24. **Defects in form**

A defect in the form of any document which in terms of any law is required to be executed in a particular manner, or in a document issued in terms of this Act, does not render unlawful any administrative act performed in terms of this Act in respect of the matter to which such document relates, and does not constitute a ground for exception to any legal proceedings which may be taken in respect of such matter if the document complies substantially with the applicable legal requirements.

Repeal of laws, and savings

- Subject to subsection (2), the laws specified in Schedule 2 are hereby amended or repealed to the extent indicated in the third column of that Schedule.
- A regulation made or deemed to have been made under section 24 of the Abattoir Hygiene Act, 1992 (Act No. 121 of 1992), and which was in force immediately prior to the commencement of this section must be regarded as having been made under this Act, in so far as it could have been made under a corresponding provision of this Act.

26. Short title

This Act is called the Meat Safety Act, 2000.

Schedule 1 (Section 1(2))

Animals to which this Act applies

Domesticated animals
Bovine animals (including the species bubalus bubalis and bison bison)
Donkey
Duck
Farmed deer
Fowl
Goat
Goose
Guineafowl

Horse

Kangaroo

Mule

Ostrich and other related ratite species

Partridge

Meat Safety Act, 2000 South Africa

Pheasant

Pig

Pigeon

Quail

Rabbit

Sheep

Turkey

Wild game

Blesbuck (Damaliscus dorcas philipsi)

Blue wildebeest (Connochaetes taurinus)

Buffalo (Syncerus caffer)

Burchell's zebra (Equus burchelli)

Crocodile (Crocodylus niloticus)

Eland (Taurotragus oryx)

Elephant (Loxodonta africana)

Gemsbuck (Oryx gazela)

Gray Rhebok (Pelea capreolus)

Hippopotamus (Hippopotamus amphibius)

Impala (Aepyceros melampus)

Kudu (Tragelaphus stepsiceros)

Mountain Reedbuck (Redunca fulvorufula)

Springbuck (Antidorcas marsupialis)

Zebra ($Diplodus\ trifasciatus$)

Schedule 2 (Section (25)

Laws repealed or amended

No. and year of law	Short title	Extent of amendment or repeal
Act No. 121 of 1992	Abattoir Hygiene Act, 1992	Repeal of the whole, except section 23
Act No. 129 of 1993	General Law Third Amendment Act, 1993	Sections 77 and 78